



## **Open Access Repository**

www.ssoar.info

# Juggling and joining perspectives and relationships: multicultural researchers in multilocal frames of reference

Schmalenbach, Christine; Kiegelmann, Mechthild

Veröffentlichungsversion / Published Version Zeitschriftenartikel / journal article

#### **Empfohlene Zitierung / Suggested Citation:**

Schmalenbach, C., & Kiegelmann, M. (2018). Juggling and joining perspectives and relationships: multicultural researchers in multilocal frames of reference. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 19(2), 1-29. <a href="https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.2.2893">https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.2.2893</a>

#### Nutzungsbedingungen:

Dieser Text wird unter einer CC BY Lizenz (Namensnennung) zur Verfügung gestellt. Nähere Auskünfte zu den CC-Lizenzen finden Sie hier:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/deed.de

#### Terms of use:

This document is made available under a CC BY Licence (Attribution). For more Information see: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0







## Juggling and Joining Perspectives and Relationships —Multicultural Researchers in Multilocal Frames of Reference

#### Christine Schmalenbach & Mechthild Kiegelmann

Key words:
ethnography; El
Salvador;
marginalization;
transformative
paradigm; socioeconomic context;
research
relationships;
multilocality;
multilingual
research;
reflexivity;
positionality

**Abstract**: In the face of globalization, more and more researchers have multicultural and multilocal backgrounds. This creates both challenges and possibilities. When combined with conducting research in a context in which people have experienced high levels of social marginalization, the intricacy of the research process increases. Much time, care, and reflection are required to secure ethical conduct and the validity of the research, and to facilitate results that are relevant for all those involved. The transformative paradigm and postcolonial indigenous research methodologies are theoretical frameworks that can guide this process.

In this article, we describe some of our experiences while developing an ethnographic dissertation project in a marginalized urban school and its direct surroundings in El Salvador. It is written from two perspectives: Christine SCHMALENBACH writes from her perspective as a German researcher who grew up in Mexico and did research in El Salvador. Mechthild KIEGELMANN writes from the perspective of a mentor who oversaw the project from Germany and was pivotal in spurring and enriching processes of reflection. We share our experiences form the research process hoping that they will be helpful for researchers and advisors in similarly complex situations.

#### **Table of Contents**

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Background
- 3. Challenges and Possibilities
  - 3.1 Gaining access
  - 3.2 Coming to terms with limitations to research
  - 3.3 Dealing with the complexity of social structures
- 4. Conclusion
  - 4.1 Resources for and in research relationships
  - 4.2 Language barriers
  - 4.3 Embracing misunderstandings
  - $\underline{\textbf{4.4}}$  Safety of all members of the research relationships
  - 4.5 Responsibilities and feelings of guilt
  - 4.6 Changes in relationships after data collection and potential conflicts of interest

#### **Acknowledgments**

References

**Authors** 

Citation

#### 1. Introduction

It has been stated that although "most ethnography has been conducted traditionally by independent researchers in individual sites [...], ethnographers really never work alone" (LeCOMPTE & SCHENSUL, 2010, p.227). The relationships in which ethnographers engage can be very complex. This complexity increases when the research takes place in contexts where people have experienced social marginalization (MERTENS, 2009). It becomes even more complicated when researchers have a multicultural and multilocal background, living and working in different settings, sometimes across countries or even across continents, and "span[ning] their life over separate worlds" (BECK, 2007, p.131). At the same time, multilocality can provide additional resources and new perspectives for the research project. [1]

In this article, we elaborate on some of the processes involved in such a project. The ethnography described here is a dissertation project. The first draft of this article was written during the time of data analysis. At the time of its final submission, the dissertation had been defended and was being prepared for publication (SCHMALENBACH, 2018/in press). Rather than a detailed account of the entire ethnographic research process such as that of LAREAU (1996), this article is focused especially on those experiences that had to do with the different perspectives and relationships which influenced the research. We describe how the principles of the transformative paradigm (MERTENS, 2009) and the postcolonial indigenous research methodologies (CHILISA, 2012) informed our decisions, where we encountered difficulties while attempting to put them into practice, and how we dealt with them. During this process, we noticed that the neat division into "insider" and "outsider" can be blurred for researchers with multicultural and multilocal backgrounds, that relationships go beyond clearly definable roles in the research process, and that an overly simplistic depiction of the project and the results would not do it justice. Although we have not searched for generalizable solutions to all the challenges we encountered, we hope that the conclusions we draw from this experience can be helpful and encouraging for other multicultural and multilocal researchers and for their advisors who are not directly involved in the field but connected to the processes anyway. [2]

We are writing from different roles in the research process: Christine SCHMALENBACH is a German ethnographer with a Mexican background who spent 12 months doing research in El Salvador (11 months in 2013 and another month in 2014). Mechthild KIEGELMANN is a mentor of hers in Germany who, in the context of a Ph.D. colloquium with Christine SCHMALENBACH's main advisor Christoph DE OLIVEIRA KÄPPLER, oversaw and supported the process from the development of the project design through the completion of the analysis. She provided input on ethical, theoretical, and methodical aspects of research, and contributed to the reflection of relationships and processes. In order to keep the text readable and make our different perspectives on the topic visible, we have written our names at the beginning of the respective paragraphs. Those

<sup>1</sup> All translations from Spanish and German texts into English are ours.

instances in which we have used the pronoun "we" mark the conclusions to which we arrived together after exchanging thoughts and ideas on a topic. With this procedure we not only engaged in a process akin to an apprenticeship, a metaphor used by WEGENER and TANGGAARD (2013) to describe supervisor and student co-writing, but also made use of central principles of cooperative learning such as positive interdependence and an interplay of individual and group accountability (JOHNSON & JOHNSON, 1999, pp.75-81). At the same time, this allows us to make more explicit some of the different positions and relationships that can influence a research project. The topics of subjectivity, positionality, and reflexivity have been discussed in *FQS* from its very beginnings (BREUER 2003; BREUER, MRUCK & ROTH, 2002; MRUCK & BREUER 2003; RUSSEL & KELLY, 2002). With this article we hope to contribute to this discussion. [3]

We start by describing the background of the study and how it developed (Section 2). Then we proceed to describe some of the challenges we faced in the process, the strategies that helped us encounter them, the possibilities we found, and the resources we could build on (Section 3). Finally, we connect the experiences from this project to similar experiences in projects by other doctoral students from our Ph.D. colloquium and draw conclusions for the preparation of qualitative researchers (Section 4). [4]

#### 2. Background

Christine SCHMALENBACH: I received an invitation to work alongside coworkers from a local Christian nongovernmental organization (NGO) in El Salvador who were working with children and their families in high-risk settings in a metropolitan area. We had been in contact for several years and I had previously visited the project. They asked me to make use of my dissertation project to help them look for teaching methods that were appropriate for their context and provided me with the contact to a school in a high-risk neighborhood at the margins of San Salvador with which they had cooperated for years. [5]

To narrow down the breadth of the topic of my dissertation to a manageable size, after a review of literature I decided to focus on teaching methods that involve the cooperation of students with each other. These methods have been shown to have positive effects on both academic achievement and social-emotional development, especially for "vulnerable student populations" (GINSBURG-BLOCK, FANTUZZO & ROHRBECK, 2006, p.746). I received positive feedback on this idea from the NGO and the principal of the school and my advisors from the university in Germany. [6]

Much research has been done in cooperative learning (GILLIES, 2014; LÓPEZ ALACID, 2008; SHARAN, 1990; WEHR & VON CARLSBURG, 2013). However, some authors criticize that the cultural background of the students is often not sufficiently taken into account (BOEKAERTS & HIJZEN, 2007; PHUONG-MAI, TERLOUW, PILOT & ELLIOT, 2009; THANH, 2013). The topic had also risen in conversations with contacts in El Salvador (and did indeed rise again later).

Teachers felt that reforms and new methods were imported from other countries and imposed on them without considering the local situation. After conversations with my advisors and colleagues and drawing on recent literature on the transformative paradigm in research and post-colonial research methodologies (CHILISA, 2012; MERTENS, 2009), I decided to put an emphasis on culture and surrounding conditions and chose an ethnographic approach (for more information on the design of the project see SCHMALENBACH, 2013, 2018/in press). [7]

My multicultural background left its mark on my research from the first moment<sup>2</sup>: Although Germany is my country of origin, I grew up in Mexico, where my parents worked in a humanitarian project in a small village in the mountains. There I was first confronted with the topics of social inequity and solidarity in the interaction with my own peers. I noticed that even as we grew up together, we had a different amount of access to resources—a difference that seemed unfair to me and brought with it a feeling of social responsibility. Spanish is my second language, and after returning to Germany at age 16, I have kept in touch with friends in Mexico. In the meantime, I have become a special education teacher with a specialty in learning difficulties and emotional and behavioral difficulties. It meant a lot to me to be able to go back to Latin America for a dissertation project and to work with children who grew up under challenging circumstances. I consider this opportunity a chance to bridge the resources of my different locations and backgrounds for the benefit of both educational research in general and the students in El Salvador specifically. [8]

As a theoretical framework for the project, I chose the transformative paradigm according to MERTENS (2009). This term is used as an umbrella term for paradigmatic perspectives such as feminist theories, critical race theory, and participatory and emancipatory approaches (MERTENS 1999, p.5; 2009, pp.63-66). Following this paradigm, I sought to include voices that have not been considered sufficiently (MERTENS, 1999, p.5), and chose a perspective of human rights and resilience (MERTENS, 2009, pp.12-19). I also drew upon the work of CHILISA (2012) and other authors from the area of postcolonial indigenous research, which implied an emphasis on local knowledge and forms of knowledge production "so that colonial and imperial impositions are eliminated" (pp.38-39). Central to both paradigms are such values as "respect, connectivity, reciprocity, and a desire to see research contribute to a better future" (CRAM, CHILISA & MERTENS 2013, p.17). This paradigm emphasizes relationships as a basis for knowledge (CHILISA, 2012, pp.108-123). CHILISA (p.113) and WILSON (2008, pp.62-63) both explain how, from this perspective, the researcher becomes part of interconnected circles of relationships to which he or she is accountable. [9]

Our use of the term "multicultural" follows the definition of NGUYEN and BENET-MARTÍNEZ (2010) who use it as referring to "individuals and societies who position themselves between two (or more) cultures and incorporate this experience (i.e., values, knowledge, and feelings associated to each of these identities and their intersection) into their sense of self" (p.106)

While CHILISA criticizes ethnography as it was used in the context of colonialism, she suggests a cyclical approach to ethnography as it was developed by GONZÁLEZ (2000) as one of the guiding frameworks that "in the ontology of connectedness illustrate relationships, the cyclical nature of all experiences" (CHILISA, 2012, p.183). This approach parts from the idea that everything in life happens in cycles, just as the year with its seasons, and that everything is interdependent. Each phase of the cycle needs to be dealt with appropriately and carefully, rather than allowing preconceived designs to dictate the research process (GONZÁLEZ, 2000). Sensitivity, awareness, and preparedness of the researcher are crucial, and "all forms of experience must be respected and given attention due to their interdependent nature" (p.634). [10]

Mechthild KIEGELMANN: After first hearing about Christine SCHMALENBACH's research interests, I encouraged her to consider connecting it to the research perspective proposed by MERTENS and her colleagues (MERTENS, CRAM & CHILISA, 2013). Since I had worked on research ethics and on conducting empirical research from a qualitative perspective in psychology, I was familiar with the discussion on postcolonial research in social sciences and suggested to connect the dissertation with this emancipatory approach (GAHLEITNER & KIEGELMANN, 2005; KIEGELMANN, 2000, 2002, 2003, 2009, 2018). As I stress the importance of research relationships throughout the whole process of any research project, the formation of authentic and trust-enabling relationships with persons in the field seemed paramount to me. [11]

Christine SCHMALENBACH: Throughout the project I was confronted with different challenges that are somehow related to each other. Some of these challenges are a normal part of any ethnographic study, e.g., difficulties while gaining access (BREIDENSTEIN, HIRSCHAUER, KALTHOFF & NIESWALD, 2013, pp.50-70; GOBO, 2008, p.118), deciding what questions to ask (KROTZ, 2005, p.278), living between different cultures (BREIDENSTEIN et al., 2013, p.68), and dealing with the social and cultural complexity of the setting and its representation (KELLE, 2003). However, we have come to believe that as the complexity increases when working from a multicultural and multilocal background, so do the challenges and the possibilities. [12]

In the following part of the article we will elaborate on these challenges and our answers to them, hoping that our experiences can be of help for other researchers who plan to do research in similar contexts and with similar parameters. [13]

#### 3. Challenges and Possibilities

#### 3.1 Gaining access

Christine SCHMALENBACH: The neighborhood in which I worked is not very accessible to outsiders. Most neighborhoods in the area are dominated by different gangs, which makes life dangerous for the people living there, whether they are in a gang themselves or not (PEDRAZA FARIÑA, MILLER & CAVALLARO, 2010). What is more, there is a general perception of people living in comunidades [informal settlements] like the one in which I worked, as (potential) criminals which makes it difficult for them to find jobs. This criminalization also leads to police raids perceived as arbitrary by the members of the comunidad. There is a high level of mistrust, and outsiders are advised strongly against entering a comunidad—both by other outsiders and by the people who live there. My way of gaining access was through the NGO that had worked in the comunidad for years. Their dependability and respectful interaction with the people there had earned them the trust of the residents of the comunidad. They gave me the opportunity of working with them in their programs and getting to know their work on several shorter stays in El Salvador before the dissertation project started. When I responded to their invitation and returned for the ethnographic study, they introduced me as a researcher and as one of their volunteers and took me along on some of their house visits. Through them I also got to know the principal of the school inside the comunidad during one of my shorter visits. She welcomed me to form part of their team during my stay of one school year. Through my regular presence at the school and my interaction with teachers, students, and parents, I got to know many of them personally and learned to appreciate and respect them. [14]

Of course, this way of gaining access also gave me a predefined role as a researcher who was at the same time part of the NGO and the school. This role restricted my access to some data (see below). However, it also gave my stay an accepted justification and the possibility of getting to know different perspectives on my research topic: Cooperative learning at school. I had the impression that as a teacher for special education with a specialty in learning difficulties and socio-emotional difficulties and as a researcher in education, I was also appreciated as a resource by many of the participants. It was not possible to contact all the participants before defining the research objective as would have been the case in a truly participatory research project. I had to rely on the invitation of the NGO and the principal. However, I soon noticed that the aim of supporting learning processes was one that I shared with teachers, students, and parents alike. Both co-workers from the NGO and teachers told me they would be grateful for any idea that helped them facilitate the learning of the students. In conversations, parents expressed how important the academic success of their children is to them and how this is a regular cause for worry. I explained my project to them, saying that I wanted to do research on which teaching methods were helpful and how they could best be employed at a school like theirs. I told them it was something I had to do for my studies at the university but that I would also write a book on it with information and ideas for teachers in similar situations. Of the families of around 120 students at the school, most parents and students welcomed me and the project wholeheartedly. Only six of the older students (7th to 9th grade) and one head of a family decided not to participate<sup>3</sup>. [15]

Using the method of participant observation and interviews, I focused mainly on grades 2-5. I also started teaching some classes in these grades mid-year in cooperation with their teachers, carefully introducing some cooperative methods that the children did not yet know. After some initial reluctance, the children became more and more motivated to work in groups and try out new ways of working. I told them that their view of these methods was very important, as they as students were at the center of the school and they were experts concerning whether these methods worked for them or whether they should be altered. They took their cooperation with each other and with me very seriously, giving feedback on what they liked and did not like at the end of group work and discussing solutions in focus groups to problematic interactions at the end of the school year. [16]

My childhood and youth in Mexico and my knowledge of and contact with other pedagogical projects in similar contexts in Latin America were helpful for gaining access. I felt comfortable in the *comunidad* and with the people I met there, and conducting research in Spanish was no problem. However, I did have to be careful not to generalize from my former experiences just because of a feeling of familiarity. At the same time, I was aware that my German passport, my European looks and my affiliation with universities (both a Salvadoran and a German university) would keep me from fitting in entirely. [17]

Also, Salvadoran Spanish differs from my Mexican Spanish and I had to be careful concerning how to ask questions and how to understand the received answers. The co-workers of the NGO were very helpful in revising interview questions and explaining local expressions. When talking with some of the children, I came to admire their patience with me, as they sometimes explained their local slang expressions to me two or three times until I finally got the meaning. For example, now I know that "hallucinating" in this context can be an expression for "feeling superior to others," an attitude one of the students resented very much in some of his classmates. [18]

Another example of my gaining access to the specific constructs and cultural meanings of expressions involved the parents' expectations from teachers and students. With co-workers of the NGO, I had the opportunity to visit several families. After a few visits, I noticed that when the co-workers asked questions about the interaction between parents and children, the parents would often answer, among other things, "les aconsejo" (which could loosely be translated as "I give them advice"). After a while I started asking the parents what kind of advice they gave their children, and their answers helped me to better understand what hopes and educational priorities they had for their children. For example,

<sup>3</sup> She decided that the children should not participate without remuneration. In the case of the other youths no concrete reason is known. However, it is possible that they perceived being asked questions as a threat.

many of the parents said they told their children not to spend much time on the street ("no andar en la calle" [to be/walk/wander/rummage around/be involved in the street], "no andar vagando" [not to loiter]), to avoid addictions ("vicio" [vice]) and to invest in their future by studying and becoming professionals. The latter was often combined with the parent's worry of not being able to provide for their children in the future and wanting them to be able to take care of themselves. Other values that were mentioned several times were obedience and respect for elders. [19]

Language was and still is an aspect of access in other ways, too. I conducted interviews in Spanish, wrote my field notes in German (my mother tongue), and wrote my dissertation in English. Initially, I presented quotes both in English and the original language. This was my way of seeking access to the international scientific community and of keeping the conversation open with my colleagues and advisors while at the same time honoring the mother tongue and the original expressions of participants. In the process of preparing the dissertation for publication, however, I noticed that including long quotations in both languages increased the volume of the book considerably and therefore created new complications. Also, the more original quotations I included, the more it became difficult to anonymize participants due to the idiosyncrasies of their expressions. Finally, I decided to publish the dissertation entirely in English. Following the premise of providing access to research results so that they can be used locally (GONZÁLES y GONZÁLES & LINCOLN, 2006), I accepted an invitation to an interview on the radio program of a Salvadoran teacher cooperative, offered inservice teacher training in cooperation with the Universidad Don Bosco in El Salvador, and am writing articles in Spanish for Latin American journals. Keeping the different audiences in mind while staying authentic in my research and my writing is challenging, but it is also worthwhile, especially because the results can be helpful both for the people who participated in this project as well as for their peers. [20]

Mechthild KIEGELMANN: Due to different needs of research participants and of a scientific community, I always advise that researchers prepare different forms of reports on their research results. Christine SCHMALENBACH traveled back to the research site and presented her results in person. Others of my advisees have produced one to four-page summaries of those results that participants were explicitly interested in. In a study on early language development of children from disadvantaged families, we produced a short summary of those useful child caring practices that we observed within the "sample" of parent-child dyads. [21]

Christine SCHMALENBACH: Anonymization can be seen critically from the viewpoint of postcolonial indigenous research methodologies, as it deprives authors of oral texts (such as in interviews and conversations) of being acknowledged as originators of this knowledge (CHILISA, 2012, p.119), of being held accountable by their relationships, and of holding the researcher accountable (WILSON, 2008, p.63). Several of the participants in my project would have liked to be named, especially the professionals I worked with (teachers and co-workers of the NGO). However, due to the ethnographic nature

of the study in which all participants were connected to each other in some way or another, it was not possible to publish the names of some participants while maintaining the anonymity of those who preferred it. I decided to change the names of all participants and not to describe individual cases in detail and made this transparent to participants from the beginning. [22]

The process of gaining access with its challenges and possibilities made me even more aware of the different relationships and roles with which a researcher is engaged and how the tension this produces can be seen both as a difficulty and as an opportunity. At the same time, it made me come to the same conclusion to which others have come: That the position of insider or outsider is not as static as it would seem (EPPLEY, 2006; ST. LOUIS & CALABRESE BARTON, 2002), as both researchers and participants have "multi-layered identities" (RYAN, 2015, §1). [23]

#### 3.2 Coming to terms with limitations to research

Christine SCHMALENBACH: Having a set role as a researcher in teaching and as a collaborator of a local Christian NGO provided me with access to valuable information about the learning processes of the children in the school and their surrounding conditions. However, it also restricted the access to information in other aspects: The everyday experiences of the children and their families were important to me, but for the sake of safety of all involved, I never asked questions about illegal activities. This would have involved questions about gangs and gang membership. Through legislation and policies in the context of *Plan Mano Dura* ["Operation Iron Fist," started in 2003], there has been a criminalization of "markers of gang membership [...]: tattoos, hand signs, 'illicit association', carrying a rock" (MOODIE, 2010, p.203)<sup>4</sup>. [24]

My avoidance of broaching gang-related issues, including tattoos, hand-signs, graffiti or gang-related scribblings, excluded me from a local form of storytelling that I would have otherwise pursued, following the ideals of postcolonial indigenous research (CHILISA, 2012). It also prevented me from studying in the field the idea of finding support and solidarity through membership in a gang (CRUZ & PORTILLO, 1998; PORTILLO, 2003). Yet, for reasons of research ethics and to avoid endangering the participants and myself, this exclusion was sensible and meaningful (KIEGELMANN, 2018). However, even without bringing up the topic of affiliations and concrete gang related activities, I could learn a lot about the effects of this social conflict on the people in the *comunidad*: the

The term *mano dura* (which could be loosely translated as "iron fist" or "strong arm") describes a set of policies introduced by president Francisco FLORES in 2003 which includes an antigang law ("Ley Antimaras") which was inspired by the zero-tolerance policy in North American cities such as New York and "aimed to facilitate the detention and prosecution of suspected gang members based on the newly classified felony of illicit association" (CRUZ, 2011, p.143). Since then, policies have changed several times and some preventive initiatives have been implemented to some extent (CRUZ, 2011; HUME, 2007). However, belonging to a gang is still illegal according to current legislation (the decree 458 of the legislative assembly from 2010 known as "ley de proscripción de maras, pandillas, agrupaciones, asociaciones y organizaciones de naturaleza criminal" [law on the prohibition of *maras*, gangs, groupings, associations and organizations of criminal nature]). Police raids happened every once in a while in the *comunidad* in which I did the research project.

consequences of living in a neighborhood with ties to a certain gang, the dangers of possible contact with members of another gang when leaving the neighborhood, and the experience of being criminalized and discriminated against for living in this neighborhood. These issues were brought up by participants from time to time alongside stories of struggling for financial survival and hopes for a better future for the next generation. [25]

Mechthild KIEGELMANN: The more abstract information about challenges in this comunidad were sufficient data for addressing the research question about meaningful methods of school instructions and didactics. From a German scholar's distanced perspective on El Salvador, I suggested the inclusion of the existing information about structural challenges and the dangers of gang related violence in El Salvador into the research analysis. However, I did not advise Christine SCHMALENBACH to endanger any of the participants or herself by focusing part of the investigation on gang culture. Even though field data on the specific processes of how gang culture can affect cooperative learning approaches in a school could not be collected here, the focus of the research on a didactic question is very appropriate. The socio-political context of the lives of Salvadorans living in a comunidad in the current situation of gang conflicts is part of the analysis and can be included by drawing on additional sources aside from interviews, such as publications by other researchers who used a different approach in their work. Also, although it was not addressed directly, much information about pressures, challenges and opportunities that the specific aspects of the social context provide can be analyzed by using the existing data. In collaboration with my colleague Tamara BEAUBOEUF, I explicitly suggest reading for information about social context within interview data from conversations about non-political "private" issues (BEAUBOEUF & KIEGELMANN, 2000, 2006). For Christine SCHMALENBACH's dissertation, interviews within trustful research relationships in the field were focused on questions about teaching methods and experiences of teaching, learning, and cooperation in the school and in the close context of the school. The final analysis and interpretation of the data paid more attention to the socio-political context (SCHMALENBACH, 2018). [26]

In addition to the complex relationships of the researcher in the field, the project was also discussed in collaboration with colleagues in Germany, both in the Ph.D. colloquium and at conferences. On the one hand, the distanced perspective within the academic German setting helped to elicit questions that promoted a deeper understanding of the social reality and the data of the study. Not being involved in the everyday experiences in the field, I was able to take a more abstract view on the information of the project and support the process of data analysis with the more distanced understanding. Yet, on the other hand, as one of the "invisible" German colleagues in the background, I indirectly influenced the research relationships. Rather than focusing on her field experiences only, Christine SCHMALENBACH needed to explain to her colleagues overseas what she was experiencing and consider their feedback. This brought into the project even more perspectives that had to be considered. Also, it forced Christine SCHMALENBACH to make the processes in the field explicit and explain them to

outsiders even while she was still involved in them. Dealing with this challenge deepened her reflection. At the same time, we noticed that through the exchange with a researcher with multilocal social relations (HILTI, 2009; WEICHHART, 2009), the differentiation of data analysis and interpretation was enhanced even for those colleagues who are more loosely connected to the research project and who are located only in one social context, i.e., German academic institutions. For example, insights from Christine SCHMALENBACH's work and the intercultural perspective with a sensitivity for local phenomena could also enrich the interpretation of data from studies conducted by Ph.D. students in Germany. They, too, had to reflect on their own positions in different networks of social relationships inside and outside the field. [27]

Christine SCHMALENBACH: Through my cooperation with the Universidad Don Bosco, I also had (and have) a continuous dialogue with Salvadoran researchers from the areas of psychology and education. They provided me with information about Salvadoran research in these areas, and with special literature and contacts. They also gave me advice on what to consider when doing research in El Salvador, suggested new ideas, and discussed my approaches, data and preliminary findings with me. Discussing my research with colleagues from different countries and backgrounds broadened my horizon considerably. For example, I noticed how different terms are defined differently in diverse contexts although the translation seemed to be a literal one. At an international conference on cooperative learning<sup>5</sup>, I met Clotilde LOMELI AGRUEL, a Mexican researcher in cooperative learning, who called my attention to everyday definitions of cooperation and collaboration in Mexico (e.g., cooperation as supporting someone or a cause with money) which could be very different from academic and pedagogical definitions (personal communication, 2013). I noticed that this partly applied to El Salvador, too. In another instance, Salvadoran colleagues explained to me that the word "method" in El Salvador is used as what would be called "didactic approach" in Germany (e.g., Salvadoran teachers spoke of the "constructivist method" or the "deductive method"). At the same time, being confronted with different realities in different contexts made me more sensitive to the details of what I was encountering in the field. For instance, from colleagues from Great Britain I learned how a history of financial and productive cooperatives and the explicit reflection on it can enhance the national understanding of cooperative learning, something I had not known from Germany. This made me even more aware of the cooperatives in El Salvador which I had already unexpectedly encountered as a topic in interviews with the teachers. [28]

Mechthild KIEGELMANN: The example of emic concepts for "cooperation" within the local field, within Salvadoran academic discourse, and within the Western academic discourse, illustrates the complexity of the multilocal positioning of this research. It also shows how this complexity provides the chance for richer data analysis, i.e., a benefit from the point of view of research methodology. [29]

<sup>5</sup> International Association for the Study of Cooperation in Education (IASCE) conference 2013

Christine SCHMALENBACH: Having chosen the transformative paradigm to frame the project, I was determined to assume a perspective of strengths and resources instead of focusing on deficits. However, this proved to be a challenge, too. One aspect of this challenge was that I had been introduced as a special education teacher with a specialty in learning difficulties and socio-emotional difficulties. I often had the impression that both teachers and parents expected me to diagnose deficits in the children and "fix them" (an expectation posed to special education teachers that I am confronted with in many settings in Germany, too). Another aspect was the research interest with which I had come. It had developed out of a need I had been presented with: Finding methods that help improve learning processes. Teachers and parents often told me about the problems they saw in the children, the reasons they suspected for the problems, and the resources they lacked to deal with these difficulties. At the International Congress of Qualitative Inquiry (ICQI) in 2013 I had the opportunity of speaking with Donna MERTENS, the social scientist who coined the term "transformative paradigm" (2009), about this struggle I was having. She encouraged me to look for strengths by focusing on the survival strategies that participants were using to get through their daily lives (personal communication, 2013). As a special education teacher specialized in behavior problems, I was used to sometimes reframing "problem behavior" of pupils as coping strategies that had become helpful to those young people when facing neglect, abuse, and social discriminations. After the conversation with Donna, I started applying this strategy more consciously to the interviews and conversations I had in the field. [30]

Mechthild KIEGELMANN: Christine SCHMALENBACH's study benefited from the relationships with researchers outside of the field work, such as Donna MERTENS. From the perspective of an advisor located in Germany, but connected to colleagues like Donna, I could introduce Christine SCHMALENBACH to a wider network of like-minded members of a wider research community. These networks play a key role in her study. Indirectly, the relationships with other researchers outside the field, as well as Christine SCHMALENBACH's use of conceptual findings about research methodology in the available literature, shaped the specific research relationships in which she engaged at the location of data collection in the field (cf. KIEGELMANN, 2003). [31]

Christine SCHMALENBACH: As I started working side by side with some of the teachers in the field and we tried out new cooperative methods with the students, they (re)discovered strengths in the children that could be used in teaching and learning processes. One teacher who had been rather resigned at the beginning of the project gave this answer when, in our last interview, I asked her what she would advise to teachers thinking about introducing cooperative learning methods in their classrooms:

"First, you must trust the student. You really never finish discovering the abilities, capacities, aptitudes of the children [...] I am telling you I had my doubts that this method would work because I knew them as lazy, irresponsible, playful, many different negative aspects, but I didn't have the faith in them to say: 'Yes, they will be able to do it, let's give them the opportunity.' I believe you had more faith than I did.

[...] So, this is what I would recommend to any teacher, especially us teachers working with this type of children, and coming upon an infinity of problems [...] perhaps it is to them [the children] that we should especially give access to something new. So, you must trust the students and give them the opportunity. That is my recommendation" (Juliana<sup>6</sup>, October 2013). [32]

Although her frustration with the general situation and with the students is still perceivable in this interview, she had also opened up to new perspectives and to a new focus in her work. In this case, the relationship as colleagues who face new experiences together was important. [33]

#### 3.3 Dealing with the complexity of social structures

Mechthild KIEGELMANN: In the following section, we further elaborate on the general methodological issue of attention to socio-economic contexts that are important for the specific social processes which are investigated in a small scale qualitative research project like the one described. We are aware that the educational pathways of children in this specific context cannot simply be understood or even supported only by applying a new didactic approach within their classrooms. The wider socio-economic context needed to be included into the analysis. [34]

First, we draw attention to attempts at capturing social context in a more quantitative way. Then, we explore the challenge in more depth by shedding light on the question of how the specific socio-economic context can affect the research relationships and research results. [35]

When conducting research in the field of educational opportunities and socio-economic disadvantages, researchers often rely on the Winkler-Index (WINKLER & STOLZENBERG, 1999), i.e., quantitative measures of educational level, occupational prestige, and income. For example, WEINERT and EBERT (2013) used measures for highest existing occupational level in a family in combination with the educational level of the mother (who is assumed to be the main caregiver for children). Another example of an attempt at understanding the environment in which educational success or failure occurs is counting the number of books available in the household where children grow up (BOS, SCHWIPPERT & STUBBE, 2007). Yet, the everyday experiences of children in educational settings within their specific social contexts are often more complex than indicated by certificates or number of years in schools, financial budget, and quantity of print media. [36]

However, qualitative approaches do not provide an easy solution to the problem either. BOURDIEU's (1983) notion of different forms of capital provides ideas of what resources and restrictions to access can look like. Nevertheless, when doing research in a specific field, a researcher is confronted with a complexity of

<sup>6</sup> The names of all participants have been changed. The interviews were conducted in Spanish. The quotes have been translated by Christine SCHMALENBACH.

relationships and experiences of participants that become comprehensible only slowly and in fragments. [37]

Christine SCHMALENBACH: Following the premise of the transformative paradigm to include "voices [that have been] absent, misrepresented or marginalized" (MERTENS, 1999, p.5) was a challenge connected to the issue of attention to the wider socio-political contexts. I wondered whose voices might apply in the context of my study. My first instinct was to see the students as victims of structural violence in a system that makes access to education difficult for them even when the school is in their neighborhood. Or was the *comunidad* as a whole affected, with its culture and its coping strategies differing from the mainstream culture in El Salvador and the accepted norms in Salvadoran society, the criminalization they are exposed to and the difficulties that brings for finding jobs and other perspectives outside the *comunidad*? Regardless, even inside this neighborhood there were differences that made drawing clear lines difficult. [38]

For example, the *comunidad* is divided by its inhabitants into different areas according to the perceived wealth/ poverty of the people who live there. Also, there are differences in the available living area per family, the material their house is made of, the possession of legal papers for the property on which their house lies and varying levels of struggle to make enough money depending on access to jobs (formal, informal or illegal), the availability of relatives, helpful neighbors, or other acquaintances. Furthermore, in this social context, the economic situation of a family is determined by relatives living in the USA or Canada and their willingness to send money back to their family in El Salvador. Another aspect relevant to the socio-economic status of a family is whether a parent can count on his or her partner to share the burden of raising children and providing for their needs, or whether one person must carry this load singlehandedly. In the latter case, the role of relatives and neighbors becomes even more important. The absence of reliable adults and the need of many parents to accept whichever job they can get, can lead to children having to assume tasks that in other circumstances would fall under the responsibility of grown-ups. For example, when one parent is in jail or has left the family and the other works full time, the oldest sibling in the house might have to take care of the household and be responsible for smaller siblings and their education, even when he or she is barely a teenager or even younger. Even within this situation there are differences as to how much emotional and practical support children receive, either because of the availability of their parents from a distance (e.g., parents in the USA or in jail who make phone calls as regularly as possible) or by neighbors or relatives. The presence of the NGO with its medical and educational services is perceived as a resource by many inhabitants of the comunidad, as they are aware that other comunidades do not have it. In this way, the NGO with its Christian values and its resources that caused this *comunidad* to be different from similar neighborhoods was an additional factor in the social context of my research. My availability to provide schooling services and support in every day teaching changed the resources of this comunidad as well, although mostly for a limited time. [39]

Mechthild KIEGELMANN: The presence of a local Christian NGO in this field makes the notion of what is an indigenous perspective become salient: The help of this NGO was key for gaining access to the field. Without the safety and contacts offered by this NGO, I might have rejected supervising a dissertation project in which the researcher endangers herself too much. Yet, by entering the field as a representative of this NGO, Christine SCHMALENBACH participated in relationships that could be interpreted as imposing Western Christian values on the people in the field. In this line of argumentation, a "real" indigenous perspective could be constructed as absent within this field setting. Yet, without this research, the NGO still would be present in the field and thus shape the experiences of the inhabitants there. Rather than assuming the existence of perceived "real perspectives" in such a line of argumentation, I followed MAXWELL's (2012) realist approach to qualitative research and engaged in supporting this dissertation project. [40]

Christine SCHMALENBACH: Since the focus of my study was not on individual cases or on connections between socio-economic status and other aspects of life, but rather on local forms of interaction in the context of the school and its surroundings, I could forgo operationalizing and measuring the exact social status of individuals and their families. Instead, I described the variety of aspects that influenced the relationships and well-being of participants from their perspective, and the different motives people in this context had for being solidary, working together, helping each other on the one hand, or choosing other, conflicting, forms of interaction (such as competition, aggression, exclusion, and distancing themselves) on the other hand (SCHMALENBACH, 2018). [41]

It has been criticized in different contexts that professionals working with children, for example in the areas of education and mental health, have a particular image of how children and youth should be and behave (CUSSIÁNOVICH, 1997; GÖTZ, 2006; HILLER, 1989, HILLER & JAUCH, 2005; UNGAR, 2004), which leads to a "middle-class colonization of the living environment of children and youth growing up under conditions at the margins of society" (BAUR, MACK & SCHRÖDER, 2006, p.9). UNGAR elaborates:

"Developmental psychopathologists and criminologists imply in their work that children all grow towards something which, as Nancy Lesko (2001) discusses in her review of adolescents in sociohistorical contexts, explicitly defines positive outcomes in a particular model of functioning. Typically, the model fits best with the way white men create orderly homogeneous communities that reify definitions of what normal is supposed to be" (2004, p.12). [42]

A similar tendency can be observed in El Salvador where teachers have strong convictions about how normal behavior must look and how values are supposed to be lived out. Many of the children and the grown-ups in their surroundings fall short of this standard. One teacher said: "So these are patterns that the children are seeing as normal. Something that is not normal in our society, right?" (Leonardo, March 2013). [43]

However, it would be a very constricted view to see teachers solely as representatives of main-stream society with its value system and colonizers of the living environment of marginalized children and to exclude teachers of the category of "absent, mis-represented or marginalized" voices (MERTENS 1999, p.5). The conflict between the local culture and the expectations of mainstream society was broached as an issue during the interviews and during conversations with the teachers struggling to find the right position between the different expectations they had to deal with and with their own expectations as to how successful teaching had to look. They described the limits they saw to their work: Not only was the social context with its culture a challenge but also the lack of resources in materials, time and space, and a lack of support they perceived from many parents. They hinted at the dangers they had to confront while working at this school and others in similar contexts and the necessity of carefully deciding how to behave and what to say, the longing to simply survive and be able to take care of their own families. Some of them described a feeling of being left alone in their work. For example, one teacher described his work as "struggling against the tide" while another mentioned the feeling of being on "an island with lots of sharks around us." [44]

Mechthild KIEGELMANN: This example illustrates that a definition of what and who "mainstream" society and "colonizer" is, is complex. Christine SCHMALENBACH, as a researcher rooted both in European society and in a segment of Latin American culture, is both explicitly and strongly distanced from colonizing politics, and yet benefits from resources and privileges of access to a European university system that has benefited from the history of colonization. In addition, both of our European-US university connections provide access to voice and being heard in the international community—access that the participants in the field lack. [45]

The question of access to resources by relatively privileged activists has been discussed by WELCH (2000 [1989]) in her concept of an ethic of risk. She elaborates that there is a power differential between on the one hand those activists in the field who struggle for social justice in their home community and who do not have the choice to leave and on the other hand those activists or researchers who have a choice about continuing to struggle for social justice or giving up in the face of failures or of mistakes that resulted in hurting others. In other words, as researchers in the field, we do have the choice "to go home"—the teachers and children Christine SCHMALENBACH worked with for a year were already home and most are most likely still there, continuing to teach, learn, and cooperate in education and social relationships in this particular school. [46]

By the time this article was written, Christine SCHMALENBACH had left the home of the research participants and continued her work outside of the role of a teacher involved in the everyday activities of the school where she conducted her field work. The focus of her work had changed. She was now in the process of making sense of her field work. By analyzing her data, she strove to develop a theory that would be supportive not only of the children and teachers she met at

the school in the *comunidad* in which she conducted her research, but also for a more generalized population of students and teachers. [47]

Christine SCHMALENBACH: Another aspect became clear in the interviews with the teachers: their strong sense of responsibility for their students, for being there for them, listening to them, and trying to give them the help and support they needed:

"The part that I feel that the school has to give most of all, not the school, the teachers, is the part of paying attention, the interest you have to invest, knowing how to listen to them, understanding them, knowing how to orient them, in what moment you should do it" (Juliana, April 2013).

"[...] but most of them somehow find trust in you and see that perhaps there is a way you can help them with their problems" (Jaime, April 2013). [48]

This sense of responsibility often went beyond their concrete students to become a strongly desired positive change in society:

"When I am older they will be the youth and then I want/ I would like to live in a better society, not worse than what we have now. So perhaps this can help them change, right? Being an entity of change, in a positive way, in society" (Leonardo, April 2013). [49]

Just as with the parents and children, teachers were not a homogeneous group but instead differed from each other to a certain degree in their experiences and opinions. During the process of collecting and analyzing the data, I concluded that children, parents, and teachers were all part of a complex system in which they strove to survive (and sometimes thrive) the best they could in different ways. Most of them felt responsible not only for themselves but also for others, some followed strong ideals and aspirations, developing new ideas and looking for possibilities; some were resigned to their situation, and trying to make it through somehow. During my time at the school and in the *comunidad*, I saw ambivalences and inner conflicts, and yet this system survived. Obviously, the voices of children, parents, and teachers had to be included as equally as possible to gain a fuller understanding of this complex social setting. [50]

Mechthild KIEGELMANN: Researchers, regardless of affiliation to qualitative or quantitative research methods, face the challenge of developing theories that are simple enough to be communicated and understood by others, and yet include the complexity of the social reality with all its nuanced relationships and parts. [51]

Christine SCHMALENBACH: There are no easy answers for researchers when they deal with this complexity, neither while collecting data nor while analyzing them, interpreting them, or writing up the results. These are some of the approaches I chose while in the field: [52]

I tried to involve as many members of the field as possible, respecting the challenges they had to deal with and the strategies they used, becoming an additional protagonist in the field. While I sometimes communicated with them

separately (e.g., in individual interviews and conversations), I also looked for intersections in which the different groups of participants had the space to share their points of view with others. The feedback and opinions of the students (especially of Grades 2 to 5) in the end played a much more central role in the research than I had anticipated at the beginning. They seemed to take their role as collaborators within the school setting as well as within the research project very seriously and gave me feedback on teaching methods, perceived difficulties, and possible solutions. They did this during class, in conversations during recess, in individual interviews, and during focus group interviews. In a focus group interview, several students expressed how important it was for them to be asked for their opinions when it came to small group learning:

Edgar: "Only now that you have come, we have seen opinions about: 'What did you like about the group, what didn't you like?' And before that, you can go and ask in every, every classroom and no one, no teacher does that. 'What did you like about your group?'—nothing. Whether you worked well, none of that."

Elisabet: "Since they put us in groups and that was it."

[...]

Edgar: "And if you turned out well, you turned out well, and if you turned out badly, that's your problem" (Focus group, October 2013). [53]

Teachers shared their opinions in interviews, in conversations, and in participatory teacher training sessions on cooperative learning where we discussed the usefulness and transferability of certain methods. I worked more closely with two teachers who taught in Grades 2 to 5 and we tried out methods together, interchanging ideas beforehand and reflecting on the results afterwards. It was team teaching in the messiness of everyday school life. As such, it gave me interesting new input from teachers and students and it strengthened my relationship with the teachers as we were working together, confronting challenges and limits, looking for solutions, and trying out new options together. Juliana, the teacher quoted above, described her conclusions from this process with these words:

"[...] Somehow it changed their cassette, their CD [...] and they saw another form of working [...] I had my doubts at the beginning [...] I didn't believe it would work, do you remember? For the same reason, because of the children. In practice, I really fell on my face and saw that it does work. So, I say: If it works with this type of children, with this type of students, who live in a *comunidad* like this one, [...] how should it not work in other places? So, I'm telling you: I am going to bag these experiences and take them with me and they will be very helpful for me" (Juliana, November 2013). [54]

I was invited by the principal to carry out three meetings with parents. I tried to conduct them in the most participatory way possible. For instance, I asked parents to share their experiences and ideas on teaching cooperation to children. At one point, it was possible to briefly bring parents and some teachers and students together to talk about the different forms of support they hoped to receive from each other and the support they were prepared to give each other. [55]

This process required a gradual growth of trust and appreciation for each other. Some colleagues outside the field expressed doubts about whether I really needed an entire school year with two to three days a week at the same school. Looking back, I noticed that many of the changes that happened in the classrooms and in the relationships with students, teachers, and parents took place in the last third of my stay, i.e., when I felt that I had finally gained enough trust and had developed enough understanding of the culture and of the local situation. The interaction among the children started to change, they showed more interest in class, and their grades improved as the teachers started perceiving and considering capacities they had not been able to show earlier. Several of the parents expressed their gratitude for this outcome. I am convinced that it would not have been possible in less time and with a more distanced research relationship. [56]

Mechthild KIEGELMANN: In addition to engaging in research relationships that are based on trust that develops only over time, the benefit of this research approach is that Christine SCHMALENBACH was able to collect and analyze data on a social process of applying a collaborative teaching approach, rather than just collecting data through punctual measures. MAXWELL (2012) points out the difference between the focus on process and on variables in social research. [57]

Christine SCHMALENBACH: The year I spent in this school in El Salvador gave me an idea of what is possible when research draws on the assumptions of the transformative paradigm and postcolonial indigenous research methodologies. I am still in contact with the school and with different people from its surroundings and I have visited them again since. I myself have learned a lot during the process. I have become even more aware of the need of respecting local and individual survival strategies—regardless of how they are seen by other participants and whether I myself see them as helpful or not at first sight. At the same time, I have noticed that it is possible to carefully bring novel ideas to the field that facilitate the development of new (and perhaps additional) survival strategies. [58]

Mechthild KIEGELMANN: Seen from the distanced perspective in Germany, I notice that Christine SCHMALENBACH could listen and engage carefully in respectful research relationships. This way, she could conduct research based on data that appear as valid on a particular question about schools. By taking an empowering stance towards all members in the field she met, she also influenced these members by making their voices heard. As a psychologist, the process of empowering persons by listening and engaging in trustworthy and respectful relationships within research projects is familiar to me (KIEGELMANN, 2009). [59]

Christine SCHMALENBACH: During the analysis, interpretation, and writing up of the results, I had to confront the challenge of reducing the encountered complexity to make it comprehensible for myself and others, while at the same time giving it its due appreciation. In the end, what I can present are pieces of a puzzle with no claim to completeness (SCHMALENBACH, 2018). The metaphor of a crystal, coined for qualitative research by RICHARDSON and ST. PIERRE

(2005) and picked up by MERTENS, seems much more accurate. According to MERTENS, this metaphor "conveys the central point that knowledge is multifaceted [...] Triangulation suggests limits, whereas a crystal is a prism that grows, changes, and alters" (2009, p.62). Also, the cyclical approach to ethnography by GONZÁLEZ proves helpful here:

"What results is a research process and outcome that is intentionally and necessarily both personally and academically tentative and dynamic. Like the circular progress of a spiral, the researcher and theories develop cumulatively and rhythmically, with no claims of absolute knowledge. Rather the results are reported with *tentative certainty* ..." (2000, p.628). [60]

Both metaphors (the crystal and the spiral) confront me with the limits and the possibilities of the phases of analysis, interpretation, and writing up. On the one hand, "the very act of recording in writing the essence of culture changes it to something it is not" and "freezes it" (p.645), on the other hand, there is not a definite end point to the research. [61]

#### 4. Conclusion

Mechthild KIEGELMANN: When looking back at the years of working with Christine SCHMALENBACH, I see several aspects of this working relationship which are relevant in my work with other doctoral candidates as well. [62]

#### 4.1 Resources for and in research relationships

While developing a research question is crucial in designing a study, I encourage researchers to invest time and energy into building research relationships. I advise doctoral candidates who are inspired by intrinsic motivation for their research. When entering research relationships, the researchers benefit from reflecting on the privileges that go along with working towards a doctoral degree, e.g., access to time and academic support for investigating questions that they personally really care about. Some of the candidates had to overcome hardships in order to get to this phase in their carrier. Many research participants allow the researchers close insights to experiences and life conditions that are less free and safe, such as the pupils, teachers and parents in the dissertation of Christine SCHMALENBACH (2018). Respectful negotiation of new research relationships includes facing up to inequality and taking an active stand of responsibility against exploitation. [63]

#### 4.2 Language barriers

Along with acknowledging multilocal frames of reference that include the university setting and relationships with research participants, there often comes a realization that learning "the language" of the participants is part of the work. When someone collects data in a language that is new for her or him, insights into the culture around the new language are easily noticed, e.g., when learning about Deaf cultures and Sign languages in the course of research on multimodal language development (KWON, VALLOTTON, KIEGELMANN & WILHELM, 2017/in press; KIEGELMANN, 2009). Yet, even when the different social contexts are located within the same dominant language, new idioms or idiosyncratic use of phrases can be encountered, e.g., the specific use of Spanish that Christine SCHMALENBACH got to know or when adults collect data in the context of youth culture (see e.g. CHRISTL, MORGENTHALER & KÄPPLER, 2012). [64]

#### 4.3 Embracing misunderstandings

Qualitative researchers who invest in respectful research relationships can design studies in which participants "are asked to shape the research process itself instead of just answering questions or being observed" (VON LAUTZ, 2012, p.21). In this sense, I invite doctoral candidates to embrace participants' statements and invest especially in those pieces of information that the researcher at first does not understand. Because challenging theoretical assumptions can lead to new insights, serious listening can inspire researchers to shift away from an original research focus. VON LAUTZ (2012), for example, successfully learned to understand some of the interests and needs of her research participants and then focused her research anew in order to understand research participants who did not have much experiences of successful lobbying, for example women living in care facilities for persons with intellectual disabilities. [65]

#### 4.4 Safety of all members of the research relationships

Christine SCHMALENBACH's work definitely was conducted within the most dangerous context that I have encountered as an advisor so far. I am impressed by her courage and commitment to conduct research on cooperative learning and school structures in the midst of life threatening violence. When designing the study and also during the entire process of her work, she made thoughtful decisions about research ethics, including protection of participants, but also about self-protection. While avoidance of harm of participants is standard in ethical research design, in my work I often need to emphasize a need for avoidance of danger for the researcher herself (KIEGELMANN, 2018). Christine SCHMALENBACH chose the focus of her research questions carefully, focusing on reducing danger when making a commitment to the specific issues to be studied. It is the context of protection of all members of research relationships where I often stress humility and encourage that candidates acknowledge the limitations to the scope of a dissertation project. I keep repeating that in my opinion the acts of defining the specific focus of a research project and formulating the research questions involves mourning about all the other work

that cannot be done as well (in German "Themenfindung ist Trauerarbeit" ["topic finding is grief work"]). While limiting the scope of a research project due to limited resources and time, doctoral candidates I advise often also cope with feelings of sadness about a much smaller social benefit of their work that they would like to pursue. Besides safety reasons for all involved in the research relationships, including those affected by a later publication of practical applications of the research results, I learned from ethicists another important reason for humility: a culturally shared sense of individual "almightiness" that has been passed on in dominant cultures of the global north. The Black womanist CANNON (2006) has pointed out for a long time the danger of overestimating a presumed individual potential for causing social change alone. Socially committed research such as Christine SCHMALENBACH's work with emancipatory approaches (MERTENS, 2009) and postcolonial indigenous research (CHILISA, 2012) joins larger social movements into her multilocal frames of reference and relationships. The complexities of social change are something that MÜLLER is currently experiencing in the context of her doctoral thesis in Germany within her research relationships with former volunteers in economic development projects. Retrospective meaning making in the position of safety in Germany touches wider social structures and global economic relationships and social movements (personal communication, 2017). Juggling and joining perspectives and relationships within several geographic, historical, and social locations is salient in MÜLLER's research and Christine SCHMALENBACH's experiences alike. Both are coping with the challenges of embeddedness in a complex web of social locations and their insights enrich other researchers in the group that I advise. In turn, my encouragement of collaborative learning within this group benefits from Christine SCHMALENBACH's expertise on the psychology of collaborative learning as well. [66]

#### 4.5 Responsibilities and feelings of guilt

Furthermore, attention to the complexities of social movements involves once again the acknowledgment of membership of the privileged group of academics with access to resources for conducting a dissertation research. Critical reflection of privileges and interwoven membership within several and different social groups is also relevant in the current psychological research that ROSARI conducts for the doctoral thesis she is currently working on: Already during her graduate studies she experienced the usefulness of her knowledge about clinical psychology when she volunteered in her native Indonesia in supporting traumatized children after a large earthquake in the university town. Currently, she experiences limitations to the possibility of providing services for a large number of traumatized children when conducting research on achievement motivation of traumatized refugees who attend schools in Germany. As in other relationships of psychologists with traumatized persons, she knows about the phenomenon of "survivor's guilt," and yet is able to overcome the temptations of stifling and looking away (personal communication, 2017; see KIEGELMANN, 2007 on research relationships within trauma psychology). Christine SCHMALENBACH engaged in emancipatory research methodologies. ROSARI juggles even more complex multilocal frames of reference, including joining her

research participants in using German as a foreign language and negotiating academic research and clinical work. [67]

### 4.6 Changes in relationships after data collection and potential conflicts of interest

Data analysis and especially discussions of research results within the context of relevant scientific literature sometimes evokes further feelings of sadness in researchers, sometimes even a sense of betrayal of "informants" with whom the researcher established trustful relationships. I advise doctoral candidates to spend serious energy in avoiding conflicts of interests when entering research relationships. When Christine SCHMALENBACH searched for participants for this study, she carefully spent a lot of energy in gaining trust of gatekeepers and articulation of both her own interests in this endeavor as well as her expectations from potential participants. She did not offer to solve the problems of the families she met nor promised services to children and teachers which she could not provide. Clearly stating the interest in engaging in a wider academic discourse on educational psychology at the beginning of her field research later helped her when leaving for Germany to work on final data analysis and writing up the research report. Her current distance to the interviewees was clearly announced and the relationships were not cut off, but changed towards less frequent and more distant contact. Similarly, in his dissertation research, KNORR (2012) did not promise better schooling conditions for the young people with an autism spectrum disorder when engaging with them in research relationships and also working with their parents and teachers. When he discussed his research findings within the context of the relevant literature, he later was able to point out his findings of a tendency in the interviewed parents to overestimate school problems while at the same time their children had a tendency to evaluate their schooling experiences as just fine. By engaging in a discussion of his findings with previous research on special education, he pointed out his findings on differences in understanding of schooling conditions in parents, teachers and pupils without getting involved in specific family conflicts between parents and their adolescent children about achievement motivation and school conditions. When doctoral candidates hesitate to distance themselves from the intimacy in research relationships during the phase of data collection, I point to the special nature of research relationships that are built on the interest of data collection of a dissertation project and thus are different from private personal relationships. [68]

Christine SCHMALENBACH and Mechthild KIEGELMANN: This is one of many qualitative research projects conducted in Latin America. Every possibility of exchanging experiences and ideas with other researchers in this area has been very valuable for us (for example at the ICQI special interest group "A day in Spanish and Portuguese" or at other conferences and colloquia). We conclude that qualitative research is not an easy process, much less when researching topics like inequity and exclusion/inclusion from a position of being embedded in multiple socio-political and geographic locations. [69]

Some of the challenges we have encountered are: difficulties in access to the participants due to the precarious situation they live in; juggling the different languages (or variations of a language) and perspectives involved, both in the field and in the area of academia; coming to terms with limits of research when certain topics are taboo for a role a researcher has taken and imply danger for participants; finding a viewpoint of strengths and resilience when confronted by participants with expectations focused on deficits; dealing with the complexity of social structures in the field while at the same time trying to take a stance consistent with the transformative paradigm; being rooted simultaneously in multiple locations and societies; and trying to break down this complexity into comprehensible representations without oversimplifying it. [70]

Being aware of these challenges has helped us to deal with them, sometimes by finding a solution for a difficulty, sometimes by accepting the limits. However, we have also noticed that there is another side of the coin and that some challenging situations bring with them new opportunities: Being situated in different contexts as a researcher facilitates access to more resources—for the researcher, the project, and participants. It can enrich the project through the availability of more perspectives and understandings. The different languages involved can make the results applicable to a much wider audience. [71]

However, finding solutions to challenges or even new possibilities is not something that happens automatically. This project has shown us once again how important respectful and dependable relationships are. They are especially important when working in contexts where people have had existentially threatening experiences of social marginalization. This includes finding a core research question that is relevant for participants and also sharing available knowledge and resources with them. None of it would have been possible without previous contact with gatekeepers and results would have been much shallower if less time, patience, and trust had been invested in building relationships and getting to know the context and local culture. Speaking the language of the country and being sensitive to local nuances was crucial as well. Altogether, we find that accepting the challenges and working with them or around them was worthwhile. [72]

#### **Acknowledgments**

In this article, we describe a dissertation project developed at the Faculty of Rehabilitation Sciences of the TU Dortmund University in Germany, with Prof. Dr. Christoph DE OLIVEIRA KÄPPLER (TU Dortmund University) and Assistant Prof. Dr. Nelson PORTILLO (Boston College, Lynch School of Education) as advisers. The text of this article was proofread by William STRADER.

The project was supported through research grants by the DAAD (Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst) and FUNKEN (Forschungs- und Nachwuchskolleg Fachdidaktische Entwicklungsforschung zur diagnosegeleiteten Lehr- und Lernprozessen).

#### References

Baur, Werner; Mack, Wolfgang & Schroeder, Joachim (2006). Bildung von unten denken. In Werner Baur, Wolfgang Mack & Joachim Schroeder (Eds.), *Bildung von unten denken: Aufwachsen in erschwerten Lebenssituationen – Provokationen für die Pädagogik* (2nd ed., pp.9-13). Bad Heilbrunn: Klinkhardt.

Beauboeuf, Tamara & Kiegelmann, Mechthild (2000). Toward a critical method of voice: Moving from first-person singular to first-person plural. Paper presented at the *42th Kongress der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Psychologie*, Jena, Germany, September 24-28, 2000.

Beauboeuf, Tamara & Kiegelmann, Mechthild. (2006). Investigating the first-person plural in feminist research. Paper presented at the *2nd International Congress of Qualitative Inquiry*, Urbana, II, USA, May 3-6, 2006.

Beck, Ulrich (2007). Was ist Globalisierung? Irrtümer des Globalismus – Antworten auf Globalisierung. Frankfurt/M.: Suhrkamp.

Boekaerts, Monique & Hijzen, Daphne (2007). Understanding the effect of culture on the pursuit of multiple goals, perception of learning conditions and the quality of cooperative learning. In Farideh Salili & Rumjahn Hoosain (Eds.), *Culture, motivation, and learning. A multicultural perspective* (pp.115-129). Charlotte, NC: IAP.

Bos, Wilfried; Schwippert, Knut & Stubbe, Tobias C. (2007). Die Koppelung von sozialer Herkunft und Schülerleistung im internationalen Vergleich. In Wilfried Bos, Sabine Hornberg, Karl-Heinz Arnold, Gabriele Faust, Lilian Fried, Eva-Maria Lankes, Knut Schwippert & Renate Valtin (Eds.), IGLU 2006. Lesekompetenzen von Grundschulkindern in Deutschland im internationalen Vergleich (pp.225-247). Münster: Waxmann.

Bourdieu, Pierre (1983). Ökonomisches Kapital, kulturelles Kapital, soziales Kapital. In Reinhard Kreckel (Ed.), *Soziale Ungleichheiten* (pp.183-198). Göttingen: Schwartz.

Breidenstein, Georg; Hirschauer, Stefan; Kalthoff, Herbert & Nieswand, Boris (2013). *Ethnografie: Die Praxis der Feldforschung*. Konstanz: UTB.

Breuer, Franz (2003). Subjekthaftigkeit der sozial-/wissenschaftlichen Erkenntnistätigkeit und ihre Reflexion: Epistemologische Fenster, methodische Umsetzungen. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 4(2), Art. 25, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-4.2.698">http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-4.2.698</a> [Accessed: February 2, 2018].

Breuer, Franz; Mruck, Katja & Roth, Wolff-Michael (2002). Subjectivity and reflexivity: An introduction. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 3(3), Art. 9, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-3.3.822 [Accessed: February 2, 2018].

Cannon, Katie (2006). Black womanist ethics. Eugene, OR: Wipf and Stock Publishers.

Chilisa, Bagele (2012). Indigenous research methodologies. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.

Christl, Taylor; Morgenthaler, Christoph & Käppler, Christoph (2012). The role of gender and religiosity in positive body image development among adolescents in Germany. *Women's Studies*, 41(6), 728-754.

Cram, Fiona; Chilisa, Bagele; Mertens, Donna M. (2013). The journey begins. In Donna M. Mertens, Fiona Cram & Bagele Chilisa (Eds.) (2013), *Indigenous pathways into social research: Voices of a new generation* (pp.11-40). Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast Press.

Cruz, José Miguel (2011). Government responses and the dark side of gang suppression in central America. In Thomas Bruneau, Lucía Dammert & Elizabeth Skinner (Eds.), *Maras. Gang violence and security in Central America* (pp.137-157). Austin, TX: University of Texas Press.

Cruz, José Miguel & Portillo Peña, Nelson (1998). Solidaridad y violencia en las pandillas del gran San Salvador: Más allá de la vida loca. San Salvador: UCA Editores.

Cussiánovich, Alejandro (1997). Jóvenes y niños trabajadores. Sujetos sociales: Ser protagonistas. Lima: Ifejant.

Eppley, Karen (2006). Review essay: Defying insider-outsider categorization: one researcher's fluid and complicated positioning on the insider-outsider continuum. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 7(3), Art. 16, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-7.3.150">http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-7.3.150</a> [Accessed: February 2, 2018].

Gahleitner, Silke-Brigitta & Kiegelmann, Mechthild (2005). Ethische Fragen in der qualitativen Entwicklungspsychologie. In <u>Günter Mey</u> (Ed.), *Qualitative Forschung in der Entwicklungspsychologie* (pp.265-285). Köln: Kölner Studien Verlag.

Gillies, Robyn M. (2014). Developments in cooperative learning: Review of research. *Anales de Psicología*, 30(3), 792-801, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.6018/analesps.30.3.201191">http://dx.doi.org/10.6018/analesps.30.3.201191</a> [Accessed: November 27, 2014].

Ginsburg-Block, Marika D.; Fantuzzo, John W. & Rohrbeck, Cynthia A. (2006). A meta-analytic review of social, self-concept, and behavioral outcomes of peer-assisted learning. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *98*(4), 732-749.

Gobo, Giampietro (2008). Doing ethnography. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.

Götz, Bernd (2006). Die Erfahrung, dass es nicht so ist wie angenommen: Über die Schwierigkeiten, benachteiligten Jugendlichen mit Respekt zu begegnen. In Werner Baur, Wolfgang Mack & Joachim Schroeder (Eds.), *Bildung von unten denken. Aufwachsen in erschwerten Lebenssituationen – Provokationen für die Pädagogik* (2nd ed., pp.173-205). Bad Heilbrunn: Klinkhardt.

González, María Cristina (2000). The four seasons of ethnography: A creation-centered ontology for ethnography. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 24, 623-650.

Gonzáles y Gonzáles, Elsa M. & Lincoln, Yvonna S. (2006). Decolonizing qualitative research: Non-traditional reporting forms in the academy. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 7(4), Art. 1, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-7.4.162">http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-7.4.162</a> [Accessed: February 2, 2018].

Hiller, Gotthilf Gerhard (1989). Ausbruch aus dem Bildungskeller: Pädagogische Provokationen. Langenau-Ulm: Vaas.

Hiller, Gotthilf Gerhard & Jauch, Peter (2005). Defizite und fatale Wirkungen des Schul- und Ausbildungssystems auf junge Männer aus den unteren Statusgruppen wahrnehmen und klug behandeln. In Bernd Götz, Gotthilf Gerhard Hiller & Peter Jauch (Eds.), Akzeptiert als fremd und anders. Pädagogische Beiträge zu einer Kultur des Respekts (pp.157-168). Langenau-Ulm: Vaas.

Hilti, Nicola (2009). Multilokales Wohnen: Bewegungen und Verortungen. *Informationen zur Raumentwicklung*, 1(2), 77-86,

http://www.bbsr.bund.de/BBSR/DE/Veroeffentlichungen/IzR/2009/1\_2/Inhalt/DL\_Hilti.pdf?\_blob=publicationFile&v=2 [Accessed: November 27, 2014].

Hume, Mo (2007). Mano Dura: El Salvador responds to gangs. *Development in Practice*, 17(6), 739-751.

Johnson, David W. & Johnson, Robert T. (1999). *Learning together and alone: Cooperative, competitive, and individualisitic learning* (5th ed.). Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.

Kelle, Helga (2003). Die Komplexität sozialer und kultureller Wirklichkeit als Problem qualitativer Forschung. In Barbara Friebertshäuser & Annedore Prengel (Eds.), *Handbuch qualitative Forschungsmethoden in der Erziehungswissenschaft. Studienausgabe* (pp.192-208). Weinheim: Juventa.

Kiegelmann, Mechthild (2000). Qualitative-psychological research using the voice approach. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, *1*(2), Art. 13, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fgs-1.2.1082">http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fgs-1.2.1082</a> [Accessed: February 2, 2018].

Kiegelmann, Mechthild (2002). Participants' expectations in research relationships. In Mechthild Kiegelmann (Ed.), *Qualitative psychology nexus: Vol. 2. The role of the researcher in qualitative psychology* (pp.63-70). Tübingen: Huber.

Kiegelmann, Mechthild (2003). Research relationships throughout all phases of research. In Mechthild Kiegelmann & Leo Gürtler (Eds.), *Qualitative psychology nexus: Vol. 3. Research questions and matching methods of analysis* (pp.5-8). Tübingen: Huber.

Kiegelmann, Mechthild (2009). Making oneself vulnerable to discovery: Carol Gilligan in conversation with Mechthild Kiegelmann. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 10(2), Art. 3, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-10.2.1178">http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-10.2.1178</a> [Accessed: February 2, 2018].

Kiegelmann, Mechthild (2018). Ethik in qualitativer psychologischer Forschung. Günter Mey & Katja Mruck (Eds.), *Handbuch Qualitative Forschung in der Psychologie* (2nd ed., pp.382-394). Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Knorr, Philipp (2012). "Ich verstehe sie falsch und sie verstehen mich falsch". Die schulische Situation von Kindern und Jugendlichen mit Autismus-Spektrum-Störungen und hoher intellektueller Begabung – Eine explorative Mixed-Method-Studie. *Doctoral thesis*, Universität Rostock, Germany, <a href="http://rosdok.uni-rostock.de/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:de:gbv:28-diss2013-0157-48.pdf">http://rosdok.uni-rostock.de/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:de:gbv:28-diss2013-0157-48.pdf</a> [Accessed: April 15, 2014].

Krotz, Friedrich (2005). Neue Theorien entwickeln: Eine Einführung in die Grounded Theory, die Heuristische Sozialforschung und die Ethnographie anhand von Beispielen aus der Kommunikationsforschung. Köln: Halem.

Kwon, Alicia Y.; Vallotton, Claire D.; Kiegelmann, Mechthild & Wilhelm, Kim Hughes (2017/in press). Cultural diversification of communicative gestures through early childhood: A comparison of children in English-, German-, and Chinese-speaking families. *Infant Behavior and Development*.

Lareau, Annette (1996). Common problems in field work: A personal essay. In Lareau Annette & Jeffrey Shultz (Eds.), *Journeys through ethnography. Realistic accounts of fieldwork* (pp.196-236). Boulder, CO: Westview Press.

LeCompte, Margaret Diane & Schensul, Jean J. (2010). *Designing & conducting ethnographic research: An introduction* (2nd ed.). Lanham, MD: AltaMira Press.

López Alacid, Mari Paz (2008). Efectos del aprendizaje cooperativo en las habilidades sociales, la educación intercultural y la violencia escolar: un estudio bibliométrico de 1997 a 2007. *Doctoral thesis*, Universidad de Alicante, Spain,

http://rua.ua.es/dspace/bitstream/10045/11068/1/tesis\_lopez.pdf [Accessed: November 27, 2014].

Maxwell, Joseph A. (2012). A realist approach for qualitative research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Mertens, Donna M. (1999). Inclusive evaluation: Implications of transformative theory for evaluation. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 20(1), 1-14.

Mertens, Donna M. (2009). Transformative research and evaluation. New York: Guilford Press.

Mertens, Donna M.; Cram, Fiona & Chilisa, Bagele (Eds.) (2013). *Indigenous pathways into social research: Voices of a new generation*. Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast Press.

Moodie, Ellen (2010). El Salvador in the aftermath of peace: Crime, uncertainty, and the transition to democracy. The ethnography of political violence. Philadelphia, PA: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Mruck, Katja & Breuer, Franz (2003). Subjectivity and reflexivity in qualitative reseach—the FQS issues. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, *4*(2), Art. 33, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-4.2.696">http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-4.2.696</a> [Accessed: February 2, 2018].

Nguyen, Angela-MinhTu D. & Benet-Martínez, Verónica (2010). Multicultural identity: What it is and why it matters. In Richard J. Crisp (Ed.), *The psychology of social and cultural diversity* (pp.87-114). Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell.

Pedraza Fariña, Laura; Miller, Spring & Cavallaro, James L. (2010). *No place to hide: Gang, state, and clandestine violence in El Salvador*. Cambridge, MA: International Human Rights Clinic, Harvard Law School.

Phuong-Mai, Nguyen; Terlouw, Cees; Pilot, Albert & Elliot, Julian (2009). Cooperative learning that features a culturally appropriate pedagogy. *British Educational Research Journal*, 35(6), 857-875.

Portillo, Nelson (2003). Estudios sobre pandillas juveniles en El Salvador y Centroamérica: una revisión de su dimensión participativa. *Apuntes de Psicología*, 21(3), 475-493.

Richardson, Laurel & St. Pierre, Elizabeth Adams (2005). Writing: A method of inquiry. In <u>Norman K. Denzin</u> & Yvonna S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (3rd ed., pp.959-978). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Russel, Glenda M. & Kelly, Nancy H. (2002). Research as interacting dialogic processes: Implications for reflexivity. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 3(3), Art. 18, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-3.3.831 [Accessed: February 2, 2018].

Ryan, Louise (2015). "Inside" and "outside" of what or where? Researching migration through multipositionalities. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, *16*(2), Art. 17, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-16.2.2333">http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-16.2.2333</a> [Accessed: February 2, 2018].

Schmalenbach, Christine (2013). Learning co-operatively under challenging circumstances: Ethnography of co-operation among pupils in a high-risk school in the metropolitan area of San Salvador. *Journal of Co-Operative Studies*, *42*(2), 15-23.

Schmalenbach, Christine (2018/in press). Learning cooperatively under challenging circumstances - Cooperation among students in high-risk contexts in El Salvador. Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Sharan, Shlomo (Ed.) (1990). Cooperative learning: Theory and research. New York: Praeger.

St. Louis, Kathleen & Calabrese Barton, Angela (2002). Tales from the science education crypt: A critical reflection of positionality, subjectivity, and reflexivity in research. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 3(3), Art. 19, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-3.3.832">http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-3.3.832</a> [Accessed: February 2, 2018].

Thanh, Pham Thi Hong (2013). *Implementing cross-culture pedagogies. Cooperative learning at Confucian heritage cultures.* New York: Springer.

Ungar, Michael (2004). *Nurturing hidden resilience in troubled youth*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

von Lautz, Alex (2012). Reflecting on ethical values in research with people with intellectual disabilities and the impact on methodology. In Karin Schweizer, Taylor Christel, Annette Ullrich & Günter L. Huber (Eds.), *Values and diversity in qualitative research* (pp.11-23). Tübingen: Center for Qualitative Psychology e.V.

Wegener, Charlotte & Tanggaard, Lene (2013). Supervisor and student co-writing: An apprenticeship perspective. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 14(3), Art. 14, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fgs-14.3.2030">http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fgs-14.3.2030</a> [Accessed: February 2, 2018].

Wehr, Helmut & von Carlsburg, Gerd-Bodo (Ed.) (2013). Kooperatives Lehren und Lernen lernen: Kreativität entfalten anhand kooperativer Lernprozesse. Augsburg: Brigg.

Weichhart, Peter (2009). Multilokalität – Konzepte, Theoriebezüge und Forschungsfragen. *Informationen zur Raumentwicklung*, 1(2), 1-14, <a href="http://www.bbsr.bund.de/BBSR/DE/Veroeffentlichungen/lzR/2009/1\_2/Inhalt/DL\_Weichhart.pdf?">http://www.bbsr.bund.de/BBSR/DE/Veroeffentlichungen/lzR/2009/1\_2/Inhalt/DL\_Weichhart.pdf?</a> <a href="https://bbspublicationFile&v=2">blob=publicationFile&v=2</a> [Accessed: November 27, 2014].

Weinert, Sabine & Ebert, Susanne (2013). Spracherwerb im Vorschulalter. Zeitschrift für Erziehungswissenschaft, 16(2), 303-332.

Welch, Sharon D. (2000 [1989]). A feminist ethic of risk (rev. ed.). Minneapolis, MN: Fortress Press.

Wilson, Shawn (2008). Research is ceremony. Indigenous research Methodologies. Black Point: Fernwood.

Winkler, Joachim & Stolzenberg, H. (1999). Der Sozialschichtindex im Bundes-Gesundheitssurvey. *Gesundheitswesen*, *61*(2), 178-183.

#### **Authors**

Christine SCHMALENBACH is a lecturer and former doctorate student in the department of Social and Emotional Development in Rehabilitation and Education in the Faculty of Rehabilitation Sciences at the TU Dortmund University in Germany. Her research interests include cooperative learning, education in Latin America, education and social inequity, pedagogic and didactic strategies to support the social and emotional development of children and youth, student participation, teacher training, and inclusive education.

Mechthild KIEGELMANN is a professor of social psychology and social pedagogy at the Karlsruhe University of Education. She earned her doctorate in developmental psychology at Harvard University, USA and her post doc degree (Habilitation) in educational psychology at the University of Tübingen, Germany. She has worked as a clinical psychologist and conducted research in the area of child abuse. Her research interests include research ethics and emancipatory approaches to psychology and qualitative research methods in psychology. Currently she is conducting studies on hearing parents' motivations for teaching signs of a sign language to their hearing babies. She also investigates processes of multi-professional cooperation.

#### Contact:

Christine Schmalenbach

Department of Social and Emotional Development in Rehabilitation and Education Faculty of Rehabilitation Sciences TU Dortmund, Emil-Figge-Straße 50, 44227 Dortmund, Germany

E-mail: christine.schmalenbach@tu-dortmund.de
URL: http://www.see.tu-dortmund.de/cms/de/Unser-Team/Wissenschaftliche-MitarbeiterInnen/Christine\_Schmalenbach/

#### Contact:

Prof. Mechthild Kiegelmann

Pädagogische Hochschule Karlsruhe Bismarckstraße 10, D-76133 Karlsruhe, Germany

E-mail: kiegelmann@ph-karlsruhe.de URL: https://www.ph-karlsruhe.de/de/institute/ph/institut-fuer-psychologie/personen/prof-dr-mechthild-kiegelmann/

FQS 19(2), Art. 10, Christine Schmalenbach & Mechthild Kiegelmann: Juggling and Joining Perspectives and Relationships—Multicultural Researchers in Multilocal Frames of Reference

#### Citation

Schmalenbach, Christine & Kiegelmann, Mechthild (2018). Juggling and Joining Perspectives and Relationships—Multicultural Researchers in Multilocal Frames of Reference [72 paragraphs]. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 19(2), Art. 10, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.2.2893">http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.2.2893</a>.